Influenza vaccination during the COVID-19 pandemic

Planning and delivering vaccination programs to protect the most vulnerable people

September 2021





This report was funded by the International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers & Associations (IFPMA). The content was developed by The Health Policy Partnership (HPP) in close consultation with the Influenza Vaccine Supply Task Force, which is formed of representatives from a number of IFPMA members. The report is based on desk research, supplemented by an expert interview. HPP and IFPMA are grateful to Ilaria Passarani, Secretary General of the Pharmaceutical Group of the European Union, who volunteered to be interviewed for this project. She did not receive financial compensation for her time.

IFPMA represents research-based pharmaceutical companies and associations across the globe. The research-based pharmaceutical industry's 2 million employees discover, develop, and deliver medicines and vaccines that improve the lives of patients worldwide. Based in Geneva, IFPMA has official relations with the United Nations and contributes industry expertise to help the global health community find solutions that improve global health. HPP is an independent research consultancy, working with partners across the health spectrum to drive the policy and system changes that will improve people's health.

This report was written by Taylor Morris and Jody Tate of HPP.

Please cite as:

Morris T, Tate J. 2021. *Influenza vaccination during the COVID-19 pandemic: Planning and delivering vaccination programs to protect the most vulnerable people.* London: The Health Policy Partnership.

A related infographic is available at https://www.ifpma.org/ resource-centre/why-is-flu-vaccination-so-important-during-the-covid-19-pandemic/



© 2021 The Health Policy Partnership. This report and accompanying infographic were developed by HPP for IFPMA.

Contents

Key messages	4
Introduction	5
What COVID-related challenges could affect the 2021/22 flu season?	6
What should policymakers do to protect the most vulnerable people from flu in 2021/22?	9
Convenient access	9
Reimbursement for all priority groups	11
Optimal timing	12
Tailored communication	13
Conclusion	15
References	16

Key messages

- Given the continued impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the unpredictability of the influenza (flu) virus, flu vaccination could be more important than ever in the 2021/22 flu season. It can protect the most vulnerable people and prevent health systems from becoming overburdened.
- The COVID-19 pandemic will introduce challenges that could hamper delivery and uptake of flu vaccines among priority groups.
- To protect the most vulnerable people during the 2021/22 flu season, when they are also at risk of contracting COVID-19, policymakers and health service planners must:
 - Enable convenient access to vaccines in both community and healthcare settings, with appropriate COVID-19 protection measures in place.
 - Use the latest evidence to ensure all priority groups, including those at risk of spreading flu to vulnerable people, are eligible for reimbursed vaccination.
 - Coordinate flu and COVID-19 vaccination programs to ensure flu vaccines are given in a timely manner, but not before September in the northern hemisphere.
 - Work with communities and advocacy and patient groups to develop clear, targeted information campaigns aimed at priority groups, which focus on overcoming complacency and clarifying the challenges associated with flu and COVID-19.

Introduction

Effective vaccination programs are critical for protecting the most vulnerable people from the devastating impact of seasonal influenza (flu); this could be even more important in 2021/22 due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. In a typical year, there are an estimated 1 billion cases of flu and up to 650,000 flu-related deaths globally.¹² Flu is most serious for older people, pregnant women, young children, and people with underlying health conditions;² many of these groups are also the most vulnerable to COVID-19.³ Flu transmission was low during the 2020/21 flu season, with few people being infected thanks to behavioral changes intended to prevent the spread of COVID-19.⁴⁵ Because of this, the 2021/22 flu season may be more severe as most people have not been exposed to the flu for over a year,

thereby lowering the population's natural immunity.⁶

While flu is unpredictable and vaccine effectiveness varies each year, vaccination is always the best defense. In the US, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimates that the annual flu vaccine has averted between 39,000 and 105,000 hospitalizations, and between 3,500 and 12,000 deaths each year

There is the possibility that populationlevel immunity will be lower, and I think that does drive home the point that vaccinations are one way to bring population immunity back up.⁶

> Dr Richard Webby, St. Jude's Children's Research Hospital, US

since 2010.⁷ Population immunity will be lower in years where the vaccine is not well matched to the dominant circulating strains, but the vaccine still offers some protection that results in less severe illness among those who were vaccinated but still got the flu.⁸⁹

For the 2021/22 flu season, vaccination programs and policies must be adapted to address the challenges presented by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The continued threat of COVID-19, in conjunction with rolling out the COVID-19 vaccine, will challenge the effective delivery of flu vaccination programs. It will therefore be even more important to ensure that the flu vaccine is available and accessible for all priority groups – and that it is given in the autumn. This may require careful planning and coordination with COVID-19 vaccination programs, especially in countries where official guidance recommends a gap between delivering the two vaccines.

This report aims to support policymakers, health service planners and other key stakeholders in the planning and delivery of the 2021/22 flu vaccination program. We first describe the unique challenges to preventing flu during the COVID-19 pandemic and define priority groups for vaccination. Based on our review of peer-reviewed and gray literature, we then present four policy priorities for addressing those challenges so that the most vulnerable people in our society are protected from flu during the 2021/22 season.

What COVID-related challenges could affect the 2021/22 flu season?

The concurrent circulation of both the flu and COVID-19 could be far deadlier and more damaging to healthcare systems than a typical flu season. The potential impact of two serious respiratory viruses circulating at once on already strained healthcare systems is of significant concern; a severe flu season alone can overburden healthcare systems, resulting in excess deaths.¹⁰ ¹¹ While co-infection is rare, data from the UK suggest that people with both diseases are more than twice as likely to die as those who only have COVID-19.¹² ¹³

The COVID-19 control measures that helped to prevent flu from circulating in 2020/21 may mean lower population immunity this year, leaving many more at risk of serious illness or even death. During the 2020/21 flu season, COVID-19 control measures such as social distancing and national lockdowns were in place around the world, limiting contact between people

There should be measures to ensure that the impact of flu and coronavirus is limited. If they both come up at the same time, health systems could be saturated again.¹⁴

Dr John McCauley, Francis Crick Institute, UK

and slowing the spread of flu. In addition, flu vaccination rates were higher than ever in some countries, with COVID-19 dominated headlines ramping up people's fear of contracting a disease .¹⁵⁻¹⁷ These measures resulted in a historically mild flu season. In the northern hemisphere, levels of flu dropped quickly in March 2020, soon after social distancing measures were introduced, and the flu season ended approximately six weeks earlier than in a typical year.¹⁸ Low levels were maintained through the subsequent flu seasons in both the northern and southern hemispheres.⁴⁵ While part of the population usually have their immunity to flu boosted through exposure to the virus, experts are concerned that this has not happened since early 2020. This may mean that a larger proportion of the population will be susceptible to flu as COVID-19 restrictions are removed and the 2021/22 flu season begins in winter.⁵⁶

Low levels of flu may lead to complacency about getting the vaccine.

As the number of flu cases remains low and public attention is focused on COVID-19, experts warn that the public must not become complacent about flu.²⁰⁻²² Data from the southern hemisphere suggest that demand for the flu vaccine in 2021 could be lower than it was during the 2020/21

• 6

season. In May 2021, Australia saw a significant decline in flu vaccinations compared with the previous year; less than 50% of frontline workers received the vaccine (down from 89% in 2020) and only 66% of people over 65 were vaccinated against flu, compared with 89% in 2020.^{23 24} Public awareness efforts were needed to increase uptake, which eventually reached levels similar to 2020, with



With low-level population immunity, that could bring about more cases. We could see more pediatric deaths and (...) a rise in cases within the whole community.¹⁹

Professor Scott Hensley, University of Pennsylvania, US

90% of people over 65 receiving the flu vaccine by August 2021.²⁵ However, this decline does not reflect expected demand everywhere – a UK-based pharmacy chain has seen a record number of people sign up to receive notifications when flu vaccination appointments become available. As of mid-June 2021, the pharmacy received 85,000 sign-ups, compared with 54,000 in 2020²⁶ (although it should be noted that the UK consistently achieves higher flu vaccine uptake than most countries,²⁷ and may not be representative of international attitudes).

COVID-19 vaccination programs may present a challenge to delivering the flu vaccine at the right time to protect the most vulnerable people.

The flu vaccine is most effective when it is given in the autumn – early enough to induce immunity before the virus begins to circulate widely, but not so early that immunity will diminish before the end of the flu season. ²⁸ ²⁹ In 2021, with many countries recommending a gap between delivery of COVID-19 vaccines and other vaccinations, it may be difficult to achieve optimal timing for delivering flu vaccines. ³⁰⁻³⁴ In New Zealand, the Ministry of Health recommends that people who have received both COVID-19 vaccine doses – at least three weeks apart – wait two weeks before getting the flu vaccine. ³⁵ Without careful planning, this type of schedule could prevent some people from getting the flu vaccine within the preferred time frame. Providing the two vaccines through separate programs, and often in different locations, also requires more effort from people to get the vaccines. In addition, some countries' guidelines highlight the possibility that requiring a gap between vaccines could result in delayed or missed vaccinations, particularly among vulnerable or hard-to-reach groups. ³⁰ ³¹

7

Box 1. Priority groups for flu vaccination

Five groups are prioritized for flu vaccinations and in 2021 many of them are also at high risk of contracting COVID-19.

- People over 65. Older people are at particularly high risk of becoming critically ill and dying from both flu^{36 37} and COVID-19.³⁸ The timing of vaccination is especially important for older people as their immunity has been shown to decline over the course of the flu season because of age-related changes in immune system function.³⁹ If older people have the flu vaccine too early, they could get the disease later in the same season.^{28 29}
- People with underlying conditions. Most people who require hospital treatment for flu have at least one underlying condition, which also puts them at greater risk from COVID-19. In the US, 93% of adults and 55.5% of children hospitalized for flu in 2018/19 had an underlying condition, most commonly diabetes or asthma. Similarly, certain chronic conditions put people at increased risk of hospital admission with COVID-19. As both flu and COVID-19 are respiratory viruses, the groups at risk are almost identical and include people with lung disease, heart disease, diabetes, obesity and a weakened immune system. Importantly, risk factors for the severe effects of flu are far more prevalent in people aged 65 and over than in younger people.
- Health and care workers. It has been estimated that as many as one in four healthcare workers is infected with flu during a mild season⁴⁶ and the impact on services can be severe.⁴⁷ This is particularly concerning for the 2021/22 season. The World Health Organization's Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization suggests that health workers should be the highest priority group for flu vaccinations to prevent workforce absenteeism during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.⁴⁷
- Pregnant women. Both pregnant women and their babies are at increased risk of severe complications from flu.⁴⁸ Multiple studies have shown that rates of morbidity, mortality, and hospitalizations are significantly higher in pregnant women with flu than in non-pregnant women. While it is rare that the virus is transmitted from mother to fetus, flu infection during pregnancy has been linked to miscarriage, stillbirth and a range of adverse birth outcomes.⁴⁸
- Babies and young children. Their risk of catching flu is heightened, primarily because they have never been exposed to the virus.¹⁹ With low levels of flu circulating since early 2020, there will be more children than ever without natural immunity, making them more likely to catch and spread the virus.⁴⁹ Babies and children under five years of age are also at risk of severe complications (e.g. pneumonia) and even death from flu.⁵⁰

What should policymakers do to protect the most vulnerable people from flu in 2021/22?

To ensure the best protection for priority groups during the COVID-19 pandemic, flu vaccination programs should be planned using strategies that address four key policy areas: access, reimbursement, timing, and communication.

Convenient access

Enable convenient access to the flu vaccine in both community and healthcare settings that are also COVID-19 safe.

Opportunistic flu vaccination during routine healthcare appointments can increase uptake among priority groups, including people who are most vulnerable to COVID-19. Many individuals who fall into the priority groups for flu vaccination are likely to access healthcare through a primary healthcare facility, hospital, or pharmacy. For them, being offered the vaccine during an existing appointment is convenient and carries the additional benefit of personal recommendation from a trusted health professional. Multiple studies have found that pregnant women are more likely to accept the flu vaccine if it is recommended by their healthcare provider,⁵¹⁻⁵³ and there have been similar findings in people with chronic conditions. 54-56 Opportunistic flu vaccination could be incorporated into a range of existing healthcare services for priority groups, such as routine check-ups or vaccination appointments for children, and antenatal appointments, or routine examinations in primary or secondary care for people with chronic conditions. This could be especially valuable for older people or people with chronic conditions, who are also at increased risk from COVID-19. Personal communication in advance of these appointments could further bolster vaccination rates, as was done using text messaging in the US (Case study 1).57

Delivery of flu vaccines in community settings makes vaccination convenient and likely increases uptake. Many countries have made flu vaccinations available in pharmacies, which has improved uptake during normal flu seasons. When pharmacy-based flu vaccinations were being introduced in parts of Canada, uptake was consistently higher in provinces that offered the service than in those that did not. Along with other healthcare professionals, pharmacists are among the most trusted sources of health information in Europe, waking them ideally placed to raise awareness and administer vaccinations.

9

Case study 1. Opportunistic vaccination in primary care with pre-appointment text messaging

A study of 48,688 people in Pennsylvania, US, tested the impact of sending text messages to increase flu vaccine uptake during routine primary care visits.58 The study team developed 19 different messaging strategies, which involved one or two messages sent at varying intervals and with different styles of message.⁵⁷ One strategy involved a single text message reminding the recipient to ask for the 'flu shot' at their appointment while another involved two messages – sent two days apart – asking the recipient to watch a short video and answer questions about the vaccine.58

In the usual care group, which received usual appointment reminders but did not receive any vaccine-specific messages, 42% of people got the vaccine during their routine appointment.⁵⁷ Six of the trial messaging strategies yielded significantly higher uptake than the usual care group, and none of the messaging strategies led to reduced uptake. The most effective strategy, which resulted in an increase of approximately 11% in uptake, sent one message 72 hours before the appointment stating that a vaccine was available, and another message 24 hours ahead stating that a vaccine had been reserved for the appointment.⁵⁷ Overall, messages that said the vaccine was already reserved as well as messages that matched the tone and style that people would expect to receive from their healthcare provider had the greatest impact on uptake.57

program in Australia⁶⁴ and a school-based program in England⁶⁵ have also been effective at improving flu vaccination uptake in children. During the COVID-19 pandemic, vaccinations given in community settings may be easier to access than, for example, a primary care appointment and can also take pressure off other health services.63

Whether vaccines are delivered in healthcare or community settings, it is important that all recommended COVID-19 control measures are observed. Precautions such as wearing face coverings and social distancing may be appropriate for preventing the spread of the virus. People with suspected or confirmed COVID-19 should not attend an immunization appointment, but should wait until after their isolation period ends, adhering to rules set out in local guidelines. 66 67



COVID-19 made it more difficult for many people to access healthcare and people have found it easier to reach the pharmacy than their GP practice or hospital. Especially during lockdowns, pharmacists have played a key role in increasing vaccine coverage.63

Ilaria Passarani, Pharmaceutical Group of the European Union

Reimbursement for all priority groups

Use the latest evidence to ensure all priority groups, including those at risk of spreading flu to the most vulnerable people, are eligible for reimbursed vaccination.

The flu vaccine is often reimbursed for priority groups, and this has been shown to improve uptake. In many countries around the world, including France, 68 the UK, 69 Italy, 70 Chile, 71 and Australia, 72 seasonal flu vaccinations are fully reimbursed for vulnerable people. There is evidence that reimbursement policy has a meaningful impact on vaccine uptake among priority groups. In the Republic of Ireland, for example, the flu vaccine is only reimbursed as part of a means-tested healthcare scheme. One study found that people who were enrolled in the scheme were nearly twice as likely to have the vaccine as those who were not, independent of age and chronic disease. 73 In Australia, expanding reimbursement for the flu vaccine to include children resulted in increased coverage among children and other groups (*Case study 2*). 74

It may be appropriate to expand reimbursement for flu vaccines more widely to better protect those at risk from both flu and COVID-19, and to support the continued functioning of key services. With the onset of COVID-19, flu vaccination programs in some countries were expanded to additional groups for the 2020/21 season. Scotland extended its program to include: general practitioners; dental and optometry staff; community pharmacists; laboratory staff working on COVID-19 testing; teachers; prison populations and officers; secondary school pupils; and all 50- to 64-year-olds. This was done to maintain key services, reduce the transmission of flu and protect more people who were vulnerable to both flu and COVID-19. The same groups will be eligible for the flu vaccine in the 2021/22 season.

Case study 2. Reimbursing flu vaccines for children

Although children under five years of age are at increased risk of becoming severely ill from flu, vaccine coverage of this group has historically been low in Australia.⁷⁴ In 2018, most jurisdictions began fully reimbursing the flu vaccine for children under five.⁷⁴

An analysis of data collected between 2014 and 2019 showed that, in 2018, the average rate of children who received the flu vaccine significantly increased in jurisdictions that had introduced the new reimbursement policy. In comparison with the average rate of vaccinations from the previous four years, 74 the increase was between 2.7- and 4.2-fold. 74 There was also a significant increase in uptake among older children (aged 5 to 17) and among adults under 65 who had a child in their household, 74 suggesting that taking young children to get the vaccine encouraged carers and other household members to do the same.

• 11

Optimal timing

Plan vaccination programs to achieve optimal timing of flu vaccines while taking COVID-19 vaccine schedules into account.

Given the additional threat posed by COVID-19 in 2021, it is particularly important that flu vaccines are given in the autumn to maximize **protection.** It takes around two weeks to build up immunity to flu following vaccination, making it all the more important for people to be vaccinated before the virus begins to spread widely.²⁸ Ideally, the vaccine should be given in the autumn months.^{28 77} However, as immunity can wane over time, especially in older people, vaccines should not be given too early.⁷⁸ In mid-2021, the US CDC updated its flu policy to state that the vaccine should not be given during July and August, unless this is the only option.⁷⁸ There are a few exceptions, such as women in the third trimester of pregnancy and children, who may receive the vaccine as soon as it becomes available.⁷⁸ For the general population, however, policymakers and health service planners should ensure that flu vaccines are not made available for the general public before September (in the northern hemisphere). Particularly for the 2021/22 season, the flu vaccine should be available throughout the winter months to maximize uptake. 78

As COVID-19 vaccines are rolled out across the world, service planners must ensure that they are compatible with flu vaccinations. Australia, Brazil, and New Zealand are among countries that have published guidance outlining a recommended time gap between receiving vaccines for COVID-19 and flu (or any other vaccinations). Recommended gaps range between 7 and 14 days so any side effects can be clearly attributed to the correct vaccine. Some countries state that the gap may be shorter, or that a flu vaccine may be administered at the same time as a COVID-19 vaccine, to avoid delayed or missed vaccinations. Usidance in the US was updated in May 2021 to state that no time gap is necessary between the COVID-19 vaccines and any other vaccine. Policymakers and health service planners should use the latest available evidence to determine the appropriate timing of the two vaccines, and ensure that services are organized so the most vulnerable people can receive both COVID-19 and flu vaccines in a timely manner.

Tailored communication

Support the development and delivery of targeted communication campaigns that address the unique challenges associated with COVID-19.

Population-wide communication campaigns do not always resonate with the needs and attitudes of specific groups, including people at increased risk from flu and COVID-19. There is a wide range of factors that influence vaccine uptake and more targeted messaging could help to address some of these. Low perceived risk from flu seems to be a common reason for not getting the vaccine among priority groups, including healthcare workers, older people, and those with chronic conditions. 80-84 Among ethnic minorities – who are less likely to get the flu vaccine, 85-86 and are also at higher risk of becoming seriously ill from both flu86-87 and COVID-1988 – trust appears to be a key factor affecting uptake89 and is an issue that is not usually addressed through general messaging. A range of attitudes and beliefs, which vary by context, may be affecting vaccine uptake and must be taken into consideration when developing promotional materials.

Dissemination strategies should target priority groups by using relevant communication channels and addressing specific needs. While mass information campaigns that use the internet, leaflets or posters have a broad reach, these channels may not be accessible to certain groups, such as older people, those without a reliable internet connection, or those who speak different languages.^{90 91}



It is important to adapt information to different target groups, and to find new channels to reach the most difficult to reach.⁶³

Ilaria Passarani, Pharmaceutical Group of the European Union

In addition, some people may value the opportunity to ask questions or get advice from somebody they trust, such as a healthcare professional or a member of their own community.⁹¹ Therefore, it may be necessary to find new ways of communicating critical information about flu vaccination and tailor it to priority groups.⁶³ It is also important to ensure that messaging is clear and appropriate for the target audience's level of health literacy.⁹⁰

Policymakers should work alongside community leaders and patient groups to develop and deliver tailored messaging that explains why flu vaccination is so important this year. Extensive research has found that strategies that are tailored to the specific concerns of target groups are most effective at increasing both knowledge and vaccine uptake.⁹²

Experts agree that vaccine communication strategies should:

- address community-specific concerns
- tailor messaging to the intended audience
- use a range of dissemination channels. 90 93

This may be best achieved by engaging with members or leaders of specific communities to co-develop and deliver messaging that promotes the uptake of the flu vaccine. During the 2020/21 flu season, this approach was embraced by the International Vaccine Access Center in its work with the Black community in Baltimore, US (*Case study 3*).

Case study 3. Community-led vaccine promotion

Vaccine uptake tends to be disproportionately low among ethnic minority groups in the US.8586 One strategy used to communicate health-promoting messages with Black Americans is to engage with trusted community institutions, such as barber shops and churches.9495 For example, Reverend Dr. Terris A. King, Pastor of Liberty Grace Church of God in Baltimore, has incorporated health messaging into his sermons for years. Since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, Rev. King has used his position to inform and educate members of his congregation on virus control guidelines, and build vaccine confidence among the community.95

During the 2020/21 flu season, Rev. King collaborated with the International Vaccine Access Center to run sessions where community members could ask questions about vaccines in a safe and comfortable environment. Fe The centre also partnered with other organizations trusted by the Black community in Baltimore to deliver vaccination clinics and conduct "active listening sessions". The sessions enabled community members to ask questions about vaccines and co-create a broad range of educational materials, such as video clips and "journey maps", to explain the process from signing up to getting a vaccine. Fe

14

Conclusion

An effective vaccination campaign for the 2021/22 flu season is essential for avoiding the potentially devastating double burden of flu and COVID-19 on communities and healthcare systems. COVID-19 presents a number of unique challenges to policymakers and those planning flu vaccination programs, which require us to look at traditional, evidence-based strategies for vaccine delivery through a new lens. By doing so, we can respond quickly and effectively as we approach an unpredictable and unprecedented flu season. To maximize flu vaccine uptake during the COVID-19 pandemic, policymakers must ensure that flu vaccines are:

- conveniently accessible in COVID-safe settings
- fully reimbursed for priority groups
- given during the autumn
- promoted using approaches tailored for specific populations.

By focusing on these priorities, policymakers and those planning flu vaccination services can work with other stakeholders to minimize the potentially devastating result of seasonal flu on individuals and healthcare systems which are already struggling with the impact of COVID-19.

References

- Iuliano AD, Roguski KM, Chang HH, et al. 2018. Estimates of global seasonal influenzaassociated respiratory mortality: a modelling study. Lancet 391(10127): 1285-300
- 2. World Health Organization. 2019. *Global influenza strategy 2019-2030*. Geneva: WHO
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. COVID-19: People with certain medical conditions. [Updated 13/05/21]. Available from: httml [Accessed 22/06/21]
- Olsen SJ, Azziz-Baumgartner E, Budd AP, et al. 2020. Decreased Influenza Activity During the COVID-19 Pandemic - United States, Australia, Chile, and South Africa, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 69(37): 1305-09
- 5. Collins K. 2021. The flu vanished during Covid. What will its return look like? [online]. The New York Times. Available from: https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2021/04/22/science/flu-season-coronavirus-pandemic.html [Accessed 25/05/21]
- Together Against Flu. What are the main issues concerning the next flu season? [Updated 29/04/21]. Available from: https://togetheragainstflu.com/news/interview-richard-webby/ [Accessed 02/06/21]
- 7. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Past seasons estimated influenza disease burden averted by vaccination. [Updated 01/11/20]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/vaccines-work/past-burden-averted-est.html [Accessed 11/06/21]
- 8. Dos Santos G, Neumeier E, Bekkat-Berkani R. 2016. Influenza: Can we cope better with the unpredictable? *Hum Vaccin Immunother* 12(3): 699-708
- 9. Godoy P, Romero A, Soldevila N, et al. 2018. Influenza vaccine effectiveness in reducing severe outcomes over six influenza seasons, a case-case analysis, Spain, 2010/11 to 2015/16. Euro Surveill 23(43): 1-9
- Branswell H. A severe flu season is stretching hospitals thin. That is a very bad omen. [Updated 15/01/18]. Available from: https://www.statnews.com/2018/01/15/flu-hospital-pandemics/ [Accessed 06/07/21]
- Bunn S. Influenza immunisation programme, NHS winter pressure and COVID-19. [Updated 14/08/20]. Available from: https://post.parliament.uk/influenza-immunisation-programme-nhs-winter-pressure-and-covid-19/ [Accessed 06/07/21]

- 12. Nowak MD, Sordillo EM, Gitman MR, et al. 2020. Coinfection in SARS-CoV-2 infected patients: Where are influenza virus and rhinovirus/enterovirus? *J Med Virol* 92(10): 1699-700
- 13. Stowe J, Tessier E, Zhao H, et al. 2021. Interactions between SARS-CoV-2 and influenza, and the impact of coinfection on disease severity: a test-negative design. Int J Epidemiol 10.1093/ije/dyab081
- 14. Together Against Flu. Meeting the challenges of the next flu season. [Updated 29/04/21]. Available from: https://togetheragainstflu.com/news/interview-john-mccauley/ [Accessed 02/06/21]
- 15. Di Pumpo M, Vetrugno G, Pascucci D, et al. 2021. Is COVID-19 a Real Incentive for Flu Vaccination? Let the Numbers Speak for Themselves. *Vaccines (Basel)* 9(3): 275-6
- 16. Public Health England. Flu vaccine uptake among over 65s highest on record. [Updated 12/01/21]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/flu-vaccine-uptake-among-over-65s-highest-on-record [Accessed 02/06/21]
- 17. Sante publique France. Données de couverture vaccinale grippe par groupe d'âge. [Updated 19/05/21]. Available from: https://www.santepubliquefrance.fr/determinants-de-sante/vaccination/articles/donnees-de-couverture-vaccinale-grippe-par-groupe-d-age [Accessed 23/06/21]
- 18. Jones N. How coronavirus lockdowns stopped flu in its tracks. [Updated 21/05/20]. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-020-01538-8 [Accessed 15/07/21]
- 19. Dunn L. After year with virtually no flu, scientists worry the next season could be a bad one: A nearly nonexistent flu season means normally high levels of immunity are much lower. [Updated 09/05/21]. Available from: https://www.nbcnews.com/health/health-news/after-year-virtually-no-flu-scientists-worry-next-season-could-n1266534 [Accessed 06/07/21]
- 20. Breen N. Flu vaccination interest plummets after record year. [Updated 01/04/21]. Available from: https://www.4bc.com.au/fluvaccination-interest-plummets-after-recordyear/ [Accessed 23/06/21]
- 21. Forrester G. 'Extraordinary' lack of seasonal flu in New Zealand, ESR virologist says. [Updated 16/06/21]. Available from: https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/health/125442512/extraordinary-lack-of-seasonal-flu-in-new-zealand-esr-virologist-says [Accessed 22/06/21]

- Down R. 2021. Flu complacency has experts worried over horror potential [online].
 The Australian. Available from: https://www.theaustralian.com.au/science/flu-complacency-has-experts-worried-over-horror-potential/news-story/54a415ba048519dc94a82a8e2fb685a6 [Accessed 08/06/21]
- 23. FluTracking. Weekly interim report: Australia week ending 16 May 2021. Available from: https://info.flutracking.net/reports-2/australia-reports/ [Accessed 24/08/21]
- 24. FluTracking. Weekly interim report: Australia week ending 17 May 2020. Available from: https://info.flutracking.net/reports-2/australia-reports/ [Accessed 24/08/21]
- 25. FluTracking. Weekly interim report: Australia. Week ending 01 August 2021. Available from: https://info.flutracking.net/reports-2/australia-reports/ [Accessed 11/08/21]
- 26. Boots. Boots UK sees strong early demand for flu jabs as it increases capacity for winter. [Updated 23/06/21]. Available from: https://www.boots-uk.com/media-centre/press-releases/boots-uk-sees-strong-early-demand-for-flu-jabs-as-it-increases-capacity-for-winter/ [Accessed 01/07/21]
- 27. Nuffleld Trust. Adult flu vaccination coverage. Available from: https://www.nuffleldtrust.org.uk/resource/adult-flu-vaccination-coverage#about-this-data [Accessed 10/08/21]
- 28. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Key facts about seasonal flu vaccine. [Updated 06/05/21]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/prevent/keyfacts. htm#:~:text=CDC%20recommends%20 that%20people%20get,season%2C%20 particularly%20among%20older%20adults [Accessed 25/05/21]
- 29. Belongia EA, Sundaram ME, McClure DL, et al. 2015. Waning vaccine protection against influenza A (H3N2) illness in children and older adults during a single season. *Vaccine* 33(1): 246-51
- 30. Bower E. GPs can give COVID and flu jabs at same time, says NHS England. [Updated 15/01/21]. Available from: https://www.gponline.com/gps-give-covid-flu-jabs-time-says-nhs-england/article/1704639 [Accessed 25/05/21]
- 31. Australian Technical Advisory Group on Immunisation. 2021. Clinical guidance on use of COVID-19 vaccine in Australia in 2021 (v3.0). Canberra: Australian Government Department of Health

- 32. The Immunisation Advisory Centre.
 Administration and answers to some frequently asked questions about influenza vaccination. Available from: https://www.influenza.org.nz/administration-and-answers-some-frequently-asked-questions-about-influenza-vaccination [Accessed 25/05/21]
- 33. Haute Autorité de Santé. Vaccination contre la Covid-19 : la HAS inclut le vaccin de Moderna dans la stratégie vaccinale. [Updated 08/01/21]. Available from: https://www.has-sante.fr/jcms/p_3230294/fr/vaccination-contre-la-covid-19-la-has-inclut-le-vaccin-de-moderna-dans-la-strategie-vaccinale [Accessed 23/06/21]
- 34. Christina Indio do Brasil. Na quarta-feira, Rio amplia calendário de vacinação contra gripe. [Updated 07/07/21]. Available from: https://agenciabrasil.ebc.com.br/saude/noticia/2021-07/rio-amplia-calendario-devacinacao-contra-gripe [Accessed 07/07/21]
- 35. Ministry of Health. COVID-19: Getting other vaccines. [Updated 21/05/21]. Available from: https://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/diseases-and-conditions/covid-19-novel-coronavirus/covid-19-vaccines/covid-19-getting-other-vaccines [Accessed 25/05/21]
- 36. Whitaker JA, von Itzstein MS, Poland GA. 2018. Strategies to maximize influenza vaccine impact in older adults. *Vaccine* 36(40): 5940-48
- 37. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2017-2018 Estimated influenza illnesses, medical visits, hospitalizations, and deaths and estimated influenza illnesses, medical visits, hospitalizations, and deaths averted by vaccination in the United States. [Updated 22/11/19]. Available from: httm [Accessed 03/06/21]
- 38. Yanez ND, Weiss NS, Romand J-A, et al. 2020. COVID-19 mortality risk for older men and women. *BMC Public Health* 20(1): 1742
- 39. McElhaney JE, Verschoor CP, Andrew MK, *et al.* 2020. The immune response to influenza in older humans: beyond immune senescence. *Immun Ageing* 17: 1-10
- 40. Xu S, Blanton L, Elal AIA, *et al.* 2019. Update: Influenza activity in the United States during the 2018-20 season and composition of the 2019-20 influenza vaccine. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 68(24): 544-51
- 41. Liu H, Chen S, Liu M, et al. 2020. Comorbid Chronic Diseases are Strongly Correlated with Disease Severity among COVID-19 Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Aging Dis 11(3): 668-78

- 42. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. People at high risk for flu complications. [Updated 11/06/21]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/highrisk/index.htm [Accessed 22/06/21]
- 43. World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. *Influenza can be serious if you have a health problem. Get vaccinated.* Copenhagen: WHO
- 44. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. People with certain medical conditions. [Updated 13/05/21]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/people-with-medical-conditions.html [Accessed 13/07/21]
- 45. Chung H, Hohenadel K, Kwong J, et al. 2017. The relationship between influenza medical risk factors and age. Toronto: Public Health Ontario
- 46. Public Health England. 2018. *Healthcare* worker vaccination: clinical evidence. London: PHE
- 47. World Health Organization Strategic Advisory Group of Experts in Immunization. 2020. WHO SAGE seasonal influenza vaccination recommendations during the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: WHO
- 48. Rasmussen SA, Jamieson DJ, Uyeki TM. 2012. Effects of influenza on pregnant women and infants. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 207(3, Supplement): S3-S8
- 49. Resnick B. We wiped out the flu this year. Could we do it again? [Updated 11/02/21]. Available from: https://www.vox.com/science-and-health/22272237/flu-casesdown-historic-what-does-it-mean [Accessed 07/07/21]
- 50. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Flu and young children. [Updated 21/06/21]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/highrisk/children.htm [Accessed 07/07/21]
- 51. Bartolo S, Deliege E, Mancel O, et al. 2019. Determinants of influenza vaccination uptake in pregnancy: a large single-Centre cohort study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 19(1): 510
- 52. Barrett T, McEntee E, Drew R, et al. 2018. Influenza vaccination in pregnancy: vaccine uptake, maternal and healthcare providers' knowledge and attitudes. A quantitative study. BJGP Open 2(3): 1-11
- 53. Taksdal S, Mak D, Joyce S, et al. 2013. Predictors of uptake of influenza vaccination: A survey of pregnant women in Western Australia. Aust Fam Physician 42(8): 582-6
- 54. Loubet P, Verger P, Abitbol V, et al. 2018. Pneumococcal and influenza vaccine uptake in adults with inflammatory bowel disease in France: Results from a web-based study. *Dig Liver Dis* 50(6): 563-67

- 55. Gorska-Ciebiada M, Saryusz-Wolska M, Ciebiada M, *et al.* 2015. Pneumococcal and seasonal influenza vaccination among elderly patients with diabetes. *Adv Hygiene Experiment Med* 69: 1182-9
- 56. Nguyen MTT, Lindegaard H, Hendricks O, et al. 2017. Factors associated with influenza and pneumococcal vaccine uptake among rheumatoid arthritis patients in Denmark invited to participate in a pneumococcal vaccine trial (Immunovax_RA). Scand J Rheumatol 46(6): 446-53
- 57. Milkman KL, Patel MS, Gandhi L, et al. 2021. A mega study of text-based nudges encouraging patients to get vaccinated at an upcoming doctor's appointment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2021 May 18;118(20):e2101165118
- 58. Milkman KL, Patel MS, Gandhi L, et al. 2021. Supporting information for: A mega-study of text-based nudges encouraging patients to get vaccinated at an upcoming doctor's appointment. [Updated 18/03/21]. Available from: https://www.pnas.org/content/pnas/suppl/2021/04/29/2101165118.

 DCSupplemental/pnas.2101165118.sapp.pdf [Accessed 13/07/21]
- 59. Isenor JE, Alia TA, Killen JL, et al. 2016. Impact of pharmacists as immunizers on influenza vaccination coverage in Nova Scotia, Canada. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* 12(5): 1225-8
- 60. Hattingh HL, Sim TF, Parsons R, et al. 2016. Evaluation of the first pharmacist-administered vaccinations in Western Australia: a mixed-methods study. BMJ Open 6(9): 1-12
- 61. Oswald K. 2016. Canadian data suggest community pharmacies improve flu vaccine uptake [online]. *The Pharmaceutical Journal*. Available from: https://pharmaceutical-journal.com/article/news/canadian-data-suggest-community-pharmacies-improve-flu-vaccine-uptake [Accessed 03/06/21]
- 62. Ipsos European Public Affairs. 2021. Flash Eurobarometer 494: Attitudes on vaccination against COVID-19. Brussels: European Commission
- 63. Passarani I. 2021. Interview with Taylor Morris of The Health Policy Partnership [telephone]. 27/07/21
- 64. Nisbet LC, Cobbledick AM, Smith TE, et al. 2020. Opportunistic influenza vaccination in the home: broadening access in isolated times. *Arch Dis Child* 10.1136/archdischild-2020-320273:
- 65. Public Health England. 2020. Flu vaccination 2020 to 2021 Programme briefing for schools. London: PHE

- 66. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Interim guidance for routine and influenza immunization services during the Covid-19 pandemic. [Updated 06/04/21]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pandemic-guidance/index.html [Accessed 02/06/21]
- 67. Government of Canada. Guidance for influenza vaccine delivery in the presence of Covid-19. [Updated 05/08/20]. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/immunization/national-advisory-committee-on-immunization-naci/guidance-influenza-vaccine-delivery-covid-19.html#a31 [Accessed 02/06/21]
- 68. Vaccination Info Service. Grippe. [Updated 22/04/21]. Available from: https://vaccination-info-service.fr/Les-maladies-et-leurs-vaccins/Grippe [Accessed 03/06/21]
- 69. National Health Service. Flu vaccine. [Updated 21/09/20]. Available from: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/vaccinations/flu-influenza-vaccine/ [Accessed 07/07/21]
- 70. Ministero della Salute. FAQ Influenza e vaccinazione antinfluenzale. [Updated 12/04/21]. Available from: https://www.salute.gov.it/portale/influenza/dettaglioFaqInfluenza. jsp?lingua=italiano&id=103 [Accessed 07/07/21]
- 71. Ministerio de Salud. Campaña influenza 2021. Available from: https://www.minsal.cl/campana-influenza-2021/ [Accessed 07/07/21]
- 72. Australian Government Department of Health. Influenza (flu) immunisation service. [Updated 21/06/21]. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/health-topics/immunisation/immunisation-services/influenza-flu-immunisation-service [Accessed 07/07/21]
- 73. Mc Hugh SM, Browne J, O'Neill C, et al. 2015. The influence of partial public reimbursement on vaccination uptake in the older population: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 15: 83
- 74. Howard Z, Dalton C, Carlson S, et al. 2021. Impact of funding on influenza vaccine uptake in Australian children. *Public Health Res Pract* 31(1): 1-7
- 75. Wang X, Kulkarni D, Dozier M, et al. 2020. Influenza vaccination strategies for 2020-21 in the context of COVID-19. *J Glob Health* 10(2): 1-11
- 76. Chief Medical Officer Directorate Scotland. Adult flu immunisation programme 2021/22. [Updated 26/03/21]. Available from: https://www.sehd.scot.nhs.uk/cmo/CMO(2021)07. pdf [Accessed 02/06/21]

- 77. Healthdirect. Flu vaccine FAQs. [Updated 06/21]. Available from: https://www.healthdirect.gov.au/flu-vaccine-faqs#when [Accessed 07/07/21]
- 78. Grohskopf L. 2021. WG considerations and proposed influenza vaccine recommendations, 2021-22. Atlanta: CDC Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices
- 79. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Interim clinical considerations for use of Covid-19 vaccines currently authorized in the United States. [Updated 14/05/21]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/info-by-product/clinical-considerations.html#Coadministration [Accessed 25/05/21]
- 80. Casalino E, Ghazali A, Bouzid D, et al. 2018. Patient's behaviors and missed opportunities for vaccination against seasonal epidemic influenza and evaluation of their impact on patient's influenza vaccine uptake. *PLoS One* 13(3): 1-12
- 81. Santos AJ, Kislaya I, Machado A, et al. 2017. Beliefs and attitudes towards the influenza vaccine in high-risk individuals. *Epidemiol Infect* 145(9): 1786-96
- 82. Dini G, Toletone A, Sticchi L, *et al.* 2018. Influenza vaccination in healthcare workers: A comprehensive critical appraisal of the literature. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* 14(3): 772-89
- 83. Hogan V, Lenehan M, Hogan M, et al. 2019. Influenza vaccine uptake and attitudes of healthcare workers in Ireland. *Occup Med* (Lond) 69(7): 494-99
- 84. Moretti F, Visentin D, Bovolenta E, et al. 2020. Attitudes of Nursing Home Staff Towards Influenza Vaccination: Opinions and Factors Influencing Hesitancy. Int J Environ Res Public Health 17(6): 1-15
- 85. Mahmud SM, Xu L, Hall LL, et al. 2021. Effect of race and ethnicity on influenza vaccine uptake among older US Medicare beneficiaries: a record-linkage cohort study. Lancet Healthy Longev 2(3): e143-e53
- 86. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Flu disparities among racial and ethnic minority groups. [Updated 06/07/21]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/highrisk/disparities-racial-ethnic-minority-groups.html [Accessed 13/07/21]
- 87. Quinn SC, Kumar S, Freimuth VS, *et al.* 2011. Racial disparities in exposure, susceptibility, and access to health care in the US H1N1 influenza pandemic. *Am J Public Health* 101(2): 285-93
- 88. Morales DR, Ali SN. 2021. COVID-19 and disparities affecting ethnic minorities. *Lancet* 397(10286): 1684-85

- 89. Freimuth VS, Jamison AM, An J, et al. 2017. Determinants of trust in the flu vaccine for African Americans and Whites. Soc Sci Med 193: 70-79
- 90. Brunson EK, Buttenheim A, Omer S, et al. 2021. Strategies for building confidence in the COVID-19 vaccines. Washington DC: National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine
- 91. Zheng Y, Barratt J. 2020. *Messages matter: A spotlight on influenza vaccination campaigns*. Ontario: International Federation on Ageing
- 92. Jarrett C, Wilson R, O'Leary M, et al. 2015. Strategies for addressing vaccine hesitancy – A systematic review. *Vaccine* 33(34): 4180-90
- 93. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. 2016. *Let's talk about hesitancy*. Stockholm: ECDC

- 94. McLernon LM. Experts seek to allay COVID vaccine hesitancy in Black Americans. [Updated 09/02/21]. Available from: https://www.cidrap.umn.edu/news-perspective/2021/02/experts-seek-allay-covid-vaccine-hesitancy-black-americans [Accessed 13/07/21]
- 95. Sokolow A. 2020. With science and scripture, a Baltimore pastor is fighting Covid-10 vaccine skepticism [online]. Stat. Available from: https://www.statnews.com/2020/08/31/with-science-and-scripture-a-baltimore-pastor-is-fighting-covid-19-vaccine-skepticism/ [Accessed 17/06/21]
- 96. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Baltimore African American faith community is key in promoting vaccine confidence. [Updated 25/03/21]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/health-departments/features/baltimore.html [Accessed 17/06/21]